THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In the Court of Appeals
APPEAL FROM CHARLESTON COUNTY
Court of Common Pleas

Mikell R. Scarborough, Master In Equity
Case No 2013-CP-10-1404

RECEIVED
AUG 25 2016
SC Court of Appeals

Appellate Case No. 2016-000910

Ten State Street, LLP.....Appellant

v.

William E. Danielson and Carol Danielson.....Respondent

William E. Danielson and Carol Danielson.....Respondent

INITIAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT TEN STATE STREET, LLP

Timothy D. Scramton (SC #11081)
Scramton Dulles International PLLC
107 East Bay Street
Charleston, SC 29401
scramtom@sdils.com
Attorneys for Appellant

STATEMENT OF ISSUE ON APPEAL

I. WHETHER THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN FINDING NUMEROUS MATERIAL FACTS AND CONCLUSIONS OF LAW THAT NOT ONLY WERE UNSUPPORTED BY EVIDENCE ADDUCED AT TRIAL, BUT WERE CONTRARY TO SOME OR ALL EVIDENCE ADDUCED AT TRIAL.

STATEMENT OF CASE

Appellant Ten State Street, LLP (“Ten State” or “Appellant”) files this appeal against the Order of the Trial Court where all of Appellant’s claims were denied and the Respondent’s counterclaim was granted in the amount of \$8,000.00. A trial was held over two days, January 13 and February 10, 2016. The parties and their agents and employees testified at trial, and substantial documentary evidence was submitted. A Transcript of these proceedings was made. (“Record on Appeal” or “T”). The Trial Court ruled on March 18, 2016 in a written Order and Judgment consisting of 17 pages. (“Order” or “O”). Judgement was ordered in favor of the Respondents in the amount of \$8,000.00. This is an Appeal from that Order and Judgment.

FACTS

The following facts are uncontroverted and are supported by citations set forth in the Argument.

In mid-April, 2012, Ten State, along with Respondents Bill and Carol Danielson, signed a Purchase Option Lease Agreement (“Agreement,” Exhibit 7A) under which Ten State agreed to lease property at 2302 Atlantic Avenue, Sullivan’s Island (“Property”) for three years with an option to purchase it at any time. For the two years before the Agreement was signed, Scrantom had been leasing the main house on the Property (“Main House”) under a standard residential lease (“Original Lease”).

The parties’ testimony concerning the genesis of the Agreement was inconsistent. Bill Danielson claimed that Scrantom “chased him” over a period of years to enter into a lease-purchase agreement. Scrantom’s testimony was the opposite of Bill Danielson’s, but Scrantom’s testimony

was supported by numerous e-mails introduced by him at trial that clearly supported Scrantom's position.

After almost two months of negotiations, in April 2012, the parties agreed that Ten State would enter into a new lease agreement for the Main House containing an option to buy the entire Property, including the Cottage, which Respondents would continue to lease to others. Scrantom and Wilkes both testified that it was their intent for Appellant to rent the Main House to third parties during the summer months. Scrantom testified that renting the Main House out during the three summer months could produce substantial rental income during the summer. Scrantom testified that renovations could be completed before the summer, 2013. Neither of the Respondents refuted this testimony or challenged the potential rental income potential.

Both of the Respondents and Scrantom negotiated and contributed to the drafting of the Agreement. Bill Danielson testified that Scrantom and his lawyer prepared the first draft of the Agreement, but there was substantial evidence and admissions that all of the parties negotiated and contributed to what became the final draft of the Agreement that was executed.

Scrantom testified that Ten State wanted to purchase the Property for investment and business (rental) purposes. Scrantom testified that Ten State had access to the money to be able to make the necessary improvements to the Main House and that Ten State had paid architects, engineers, contractors and others, and had obtained the necessary permits, to begin the renovation when the Agreement was terminated in March-April, 2013. Wilkes' testimony confirmed these assertions.

Scrantom testified at trial that Bill Danielson told him on many occasions that the first mortgage loan on the Property was assumable. That mortgage loan, managed by Select Servicing, Inc. ("Select") as a servicing company for the actual lender, was in the principal amount of

\$1,499,000 and was a very low interest rate-“interest only” loan (“Select Loan”). The value of the Property was approximately \$2.1 million, so the debt comprised about 75% of the value of the Property. Scrantom testified that the assumability of the low-interest-only Select Loan was a crucial part of the decision for Ten State to enter into the Agreement. He testified it was “a valuable asset” that he considered Appellant was acquiring through the Agreement.

The Select Loan was owed by Mrs. Danielson, alone, in her name. Mrs. Danielson testified that she did not know whether the Select Loan was assumable, but thought it probably was. Mr. Danielson testified that the Select Loan was assumable. Regardless of whether the Select Loan was in fact assumable,¹ it would appear that Scrantom and Ten State believed it was and that the Respondents believed the same.

Scrantom and Wilkes (also an employee of Appellant) worked for ten months on the planned renovation of the Main House. In mid-February, 2013, eleven months into the three-year Agreement, Scrantom, as the manager of Appellant, informed Bill Danielson that Appellant wanted to immediately proceed with the closing of the purchase of the Property pursuant to the option in the Agreement.

Scrantom testified that he simultaneously notified the Respondents that Appellant wanted to move forward with the immediate assumption of the Select Loan, as contemplated by Section 19.07 the Agreement. Wilkes also testified that she attended a conference call with Scrantom and the Danielsons where the assumption of that loan and mortgage was discussed. Scrantom testified that he fully expected the Respondents to proceed to use their best efforts to bring about the assumption of the Select Loan by Respondents under the Agreement, which provides:

¹ The Mortgage Rider for the Select Loan Mortgage provides that the Mortgage can be readily assumed by another if the Mortgagors [Danielsons] provide information about the assignee (in this case, Ten State) and the lender determines that the collateral [the Property] will not be impaired.

19.07 Owner Best Efforts to Procure Assumption of Mortgages by Buyer. Owner agrees to use its best efforts, upon request by Buyer, to obtain the consent of the Mortgage holders to the assumption of the Mortgage Debt by Buyer under the terms of the existing Mortgage Debt instruments.

It is clear that the request was made to the Respondents to move forward with the assumption. It is not only axiomatic, but clear from the terms of the Select Loan documents, that it was up to Carol Danielson to pursue the assumption for Appellant since she was the one with the contractual relationship with Select. The terms of the Mortgage Rider provides the borrower, Carol Danielson, was responsible for providing information to Select regarding the assumption.

Carol Danielson testified that, even though she was aware of Ten State's intention to assume the Select Loan, she took no action whatsoever to bring it about. (It is noteworthy that Carol Danielson is the sole obligor under the Mortgages, but she professed to be totally ignorant of any dealings with the Mortgagees or their scores of communications to her. Indeed, Carol Danielson's deposition testimony as to her understanding of the status of the Select Loan was identical to Scrantom's—that a small amount may have been in arrears, but it was not in default.)

Bill Danielson testified he made one phone call to Select concerning the requested assumption of the Select Loan, but it was unclear whether that call was made before or after Scrantom made the assumption request. Bill Danielson admitted he submitted nothing to Select concerning the assumption, and that he had no writings to establish the existence or substance of the phone call. Conversely, Bill Danielson testified Scrantom was responsible for the assumption process and he did not submit any documents to Select to bring about the assumption. Danielson later testified that within a day or two of notifying Danielson Scrantom wanted to proceed with the assumption that he (Scrantom) had arranged a "mortgage loan on the property" for the Option price and did not need to assume the Select Loan at all. It is more than nuance in this context that Mr. Danielson testified on direct examination several times that the phone call he professes to have

made to Select was to ask whether Mr. Scrantom, rather than Appellant, could assume the Select Loan. His duty, though, under the Agreement, was to pursue approval by Select Loan of an assumption by Appellant. Scrantom testified unequivocally that he never told Danielson to call off the assumption process and that it was absurd to think he could have arranged an alternative mortgage loan within those two days.

Scrantom's testimony about the assumption was that as Ten State was working toward closing the purchase, on about February 21, 2013, Bill Danielson told him that Danielson had been in contact with the Mortgage companies and neither Mortgage company would permit an assumption at all. Danielson indicated Select, with whom he had spoken many times for years, had denied any assumption of their loan to Carol Danielson. Danielson then told Scrantom "they said you will have to apply for a new loan with them."²

In short, Scrantom testified that within two days after Scrantom asked Bill Danielson (from the Lender's standpoint, Carol Danielson's agent) to pursue assumption of the Mortgages, the purchase by Appellant began to fall apart with Bill Danielson's news that the Select Loan was not assumable.

Appellant rescinded the Agreement and subsequently initiated suit against Respondents for equitable relief, including mistake, unjust enrichment and rescission. In discovery, Appellant learned (through a subpoena to Select) that Respondents were in default of the Select Loan even before the Agreement was signed. This was unknown to Appellant until that time. The complaint was amended to add claims for breach of contract.

² According to Bill Danielson's testimony, Select is only a loan servicing company, so the Court would doubt they would entertain, much less request, an application by Ten State for a new mortgage with them.

ARGUMENT

I. STANDARD OF REVIEW

The issues alleged in the Amended Complaint include claims for equitable relief and for legal relief, including breach of contract. In an action in equity, tried by a master, the appellate court has jurisdiction to find facts in accordance with its views of the preponderance of the evidence. *Fox v. Moultrie*, 379 S.C. 609, 613, 666 S.E.2d 915, 917 (2008). This Court should review the trial court's legal conclusions *de novo*. See *Simmons v. Simmons*, 392 S.C. 412, 414 (2011) and *Lewis v. Lewis* (2011). In appeals from decisions in equity, an appellate court reviews factual and legal issues *de novo*. *Simmons v. Simmons*, 392 S.C. 412, 414, 709 S.E.2d 666, 667 (2011). "De novo review permits appellate court fact-finding, notwithstanding the presence of evidence supporting the trial court's findings." *Lewis v. Lewis*, 392 S.C. 381, 390, 709 S.E.2d 650, 654-55 (2011). However, *de novo* review does not relieve an appellant of his burden to "demonstrate error in the [family] court's findings of fact." *Id.* "Consequently, the family court's factual findings will be affirmed unless appellant satisfies this court that the preponderance of the evidence is against the finding of the court." *Id.* See *ZAN, LLC v. Ripley Cove, LLC*, 406 S.C. 404 (2013) (Real estate purchaser's action seeking damages and rescission of real estate purchase agreement was equitable action, not legal action; main purpose in instituting action was to rescind agreement.).

This Court has the authority to find facts in congruence with its own view of a preponderance of the evidence despite evidence supporting the trial court's findings. *Id.* Because the Trial Court's erroneous findings of fact informed its conclusions of law, they should be reviewed *de novo*. This is true notwithstanding that some of the alternative bases for relief sought are at law.

"An action for breach of contract seeking money damages is an action at law." *R & G Constr., Inc. v. Lowcountry Reg'l Transp. Auth.*, 343 S.C. 424, 430, 540 S.E.2d 113, 117 (2000); accord *Sterling Dev. Co. v. Collins*, 309 S.C. 237, 240, 421 S.E.2d 402, 404 (1992). "In an action at law, on appeal of a case tried without a jury, the findings of fact of the judge will not be disturbed upon appeal unless found to be without evidence which reasonably supports the judge's findings.... The judge's findings are equivalent to a jury's findings in a law action." *Townes Assocs. v. City of Greenville*, 266 S.C. 81, 86, 221 S.E.2d 773, 775 (1976); accord *Cohens v. Atkins*, 333 S.C. 345, 347, 509 S.E.2d 286, 288 (1998).

"When legal and equitable actions are maintained in one suit, each retains its own identity as legal or equitable for purposes of the applicable standard of review on appeal." *Corley v. Ott*, 326 S.C. 89, 92 n. 1, 485 S.E.2d 97, 99 n. 1 (1997). The reviewing court should "view the actions separately for the purpose of determining the appropriate standard of review." *Jordan v. Holt*, 362 S.C. 201, 205, 608 S.E.2d 129, 131 (2005). Similarly, the judge may grant a new trial if the verdict is inconsistent and reflects the jury's confusion. *Johnson v. Parker*, 279 S.C. 132, 303 S.E.2d 95 (1983). See also *Johnson v. Hoechst Celanese Corp.*, 317 S.C. 415, 453 S.E.2d 908 (Ct.App.1995). "Where mixed questions of fact and law are presented, the legal conclusions to be drawn are not entitled to the same deference." *Springs & Davenport, Inc.*, 385 S.C. at 325, 683 S.E.2d at 816. Finally, it is relevant that in interpreting contracts, parties are governed by their outward expressions and the court is not at liberty to consider their secret intentions. *Blakeley*, 266 S.C. at 73, 221 S.E.2d at 769; accord *Kable v. Simmons*, 217 S.C. 161, 166, 60 S.E.2d 79, 81 (1950).

II. WHETHER THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN FINDING NUMEROUS MATERIAL FACTS AND CONCLUSIONS OF LAW THAT NOT ONLY WERE UNSUPPORTED BY EVIDENCE ADDUCED AT TRIAL, BUT WERE CONTRARY TO SOME OR ALL EVIDENCE ADDUCED AT TRIAL.

1. The Trial Court utterly confused the roles and identities of the parties, leading to numerous material errors in its Findings of Fact. The Trial Court was obviously confused about the respective roles and identities of the Appellant (“Buyer”) and the “guarantor” under the Agreement and the roles of that Buyer and the “Borrower” under the applicable loan mortgage documents that lay at the heart of the Agreement. At the outset, in the Order the Court recognizes “Ten State Street, LLP (hereafter as “Buyer” or “Ten State”) entered into the Agreement with the Owner, and Timothy D. Scrantom personally guaranteed the payments due under the Agreement.” (Order, 1). Ten State Street, LLP IS the only Appellant in this case AND WAS THE ONLY Plaintiff at trial. Nevertheless, the Trial Court goes on in the Order to conflate Scrantom and Ten State Street, LLP even though there is no evidence whatsoever in the Trial record that Scrantom was a/the Appellant, that the Appellant and Scrantom are one and the same, or that the juridical personality of Ten State Street, LLP should be disregarded or attributed to Scrantom.

The following quotes from the Trial Court’s Order are illustrative of its confusion between the Appellant, a South Carolina Limited Liability Partnership registered in 1996, and the third-party defendant in this case (underlining supplied for emphasis):

- “The Court finds the most significant fact in this case is that π [the Appellant] Scrantom found a home he preferred (200 Bank Street) and proceeded with the closing on that property.” (O 14)
- “At the time Buyer entered the Agreement, Scrantom was not in a financial position to purchase the Property because of credit issues arising out of his recent divorce.” (O2)
- “The Agreement provided Buyer with beneficial ownership while he lived in the home...” (O2)

- “Buyer agreed to keep the main house in good working order, at his cost.” (O3)
- “The Agreement states that if the Buyer remained in the Property past the last day of the term of the Agreement, he would become a tenant at will and shall pay rent of \$8,000 per month.” (O7)
- “In February 2013, the Buyer notified the Danielsons that he wanted to accelerate the closing date and close in April 2013” (O4)
- “Then, only after a contract to purchase another house was finalized, did Scrantom attempt to rescind the Agreement.” (O6)
- “Buyers’ (*sic*) damage demand is for the return of all monies paid pursuant to the Agreement minus what he deems to be fair market rent.” (O8)
- “At trial I limited the Appellant’s damages claim to only those monies claimed owed that he paid to the Danielsons.” (O15)
- “It provided the Buyer with beneficial ownership and use of the property during the time period the Buyer lived in the property.” (O5)
- “To the extent that Buyer did not fully investigate the impact of the arrearage with the Lender, he proceeded at his own peril.” (O15)
- “Additionally, since the Lender took no steps to foreclose on the property there is no harm to Scrantom as a result of the Danielsons (*sic*) continued arrearage.” (O13)
- “The evidence does shows that he would only consider assuming the Note if the Lender actually renegotiated to allow for a lower interest rate. Regardless, it does not appear Mr. Scrantom moved forward on this process and cannot now claim a breach. (O12)
- “The Buyer negotiated and contracted for an option on the Property. He wanted beneficial ownership during the time period where he could live in the home and plan for a renovation project.” (O13)
- “By his own testimony he [Scrantom] could not qualify for financing in 2012 due to his poor credit.” (O13)
- “The Agreement allowed him to live in the house and move forward with the remodel prior to purchase.” (O11)
- “He received what he bargained for – beneficial ownership of the property.” (O12)

- “It appears he found a home he preferred (200 Bank Street) and proceeded with the closing on that property.” (O14)
- “As such, it appears that the March 2015 (sic) would be the expiration period by which Scrantom would have to pay the interest carry. Here again, I find no breach.” (O 14)
- “He is not entitled to recoup money paid pursuant to his option contract.” (O15)
- “I conclude the Buyer was negligent in his failure to investigate the issues he is now relying upon for rescission.” (O 15)

These near-continuous errors in Findings of Fact by the Trial Court are pervasive throughout the Order. They are material to the issues before the Trial Court, to wit: the witnesses for the Appellant, both individual employees of the Appellant, testified that the purpose of the acquisition of the Property pursuant to the Agreement was to develop it in large part for commercial rental purposes. (T. 62). One of the most central issues in the case was whether the Respondents used their “best efforts” to obtain the consent of one of the Mortgagees of the Property to an assumption of their mortgage loan by the Buyer (Ten State Street). (“The Agreement provides that the Danielsons will “use its best efforts” to obtain the consent of the Mortgage holders to the assumption of the Mortgage Debt by Buyer under the terms of the existing debt instruments.” [O 12] “Appellant’s claims for breach of contract and rescission are based on three primary issues: ... 2) The purported failure to take reasonable steps to allow the Appellant/Buyer to assume the applicable mortgage;...”. (O 14) In light of this finding—that Ten State Street desired to assume the subject mortgage—it is a clear error in a material finding of fact by the Trial Court to hold that the Respondents met this duty by alleging that they attempted to bring about an assumption of the mortgage loan by Mr. Scrantom, personally. This was made clear to the Trial Court in the following colloquy where Mr. Scrantom was cross examined by Respondent’s counsel:

A. Well, first I don't know (sic) why he was asking for me to assume the mortgage. I wasn't going to

assume the mortgage.

Q. Did you know that Mr. Danielson called the servicer during the time period that we're talking about to talk to them about what needed to occur for you to be the transferee to assume the mortgage as outlined in that?

A. And I'm trying to say that I don't know why he would have asked for me to be because I'm not on the contract.

Q. Ten State Street?

A. Well, I don't consider they're one and the same.

Q. Excuse me.

A. So did he call and ask for me to assume, or did he call and ask for Ten State Street to assume it? That's a huge difference.

Q. All right. Ten State Street.

A. Well, which was it?

Q. Ten State Street? (T. p. 106, line 20 *et seq.*)

Nevertheless, the Trial Court found as fact that “Ten State Street is an entity controlled by Scrantom.”

(O 2) There is no testimony in the record to support such a finding, and no other evidence whatsoever was introduced at trial to support this contention, other than the Respondents' lawyer's own bald assertions in his closing argument.

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