5

IN THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In the Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM CHARLESTON COUNTY
Court of Common Pleas

Mikell R. Scarborough, Master-In-Equity

Appellate Case No.: 2016-000910

RECEIVED
OCT 28 2016
SC Court of Appeals

Ten State Street, LLP.....Appellant,

v.

William E. Danielson and Carol Danielson,Respondents.

William E. Danielson and Carol Danielson,Respondents,

v.

Ten State Street, LLP.....Appellant.

INITIAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENTS

McCULLOUGH KHAN, LLC

Clayton B. McCullough, Esq. (SC Bar No.: 13722)

Jamie A. Khan, Esq. (SC Bar No.: 76685)

359 King Street, Suite 200

Charleston, SC 29401

(843) 937-0400

Clay@mklawsc.com

Jamie@mklawsc.com

ATTORNEYS FOR RESPONDENTS

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

satisfy by clear and convincing evidence the exacting requirements for either mutual mistake or unilateral mistake.

"A contract may be reformed on the ground of mistake when the mistake is mutual and consists in the omission or insertion of some material element affecting the subject matter or the terms and stipulations of the contract, inconsistent with those of the parol agreement which necessarily preceded it." *George v. Empire Fire & Marine Ins. Co.*, 344 S.C. 582, 590, 545 S.E.2d 500, 504 (2001) (quoting *Crosby v. Protective Life Ins. Co.*, 293 S.C. 203, 206, 359 S.E.2d 298, 300 (Ct. App. 1987)). "A mistake is mutual where both parties intended a certain thing and by mistake in the drafting did not obtain what was intended." *Id.* (quoting *Crosby*, 293 S.C. at 206, 359 S.E.2d at 300). "Reformation is the remedy by which writings are rectified to conform to the actual agreement of the parties." *Crosby*, 293 S.C. at 206, 359 S.E.2d at 300 (quoting *Crewe v. Blackmon*, 289 S.C. 229, 234, 345 S.E.2d 754, 757 (Ct. App. 1986)). "Before equity will reform a contract, the existence of a mutual mistake must be shown by clear and convincing evidence." *Id.* (citing *Crosby*, 293 S.C. at 206, 359 S.E.2d at 300).

A contract may be rescinded for mistake, if justice so requires, where the mistake is unilateral and has been induced by the fraud, deceit, misrepresentation, concealment, or imposition of the party opposed to the rescission, without negligence on the part of the party claiming rescission. *See King v. Oxford*, 282 S.C. 307, 313, 318 S.E.2d 125, 128 (Ct. App. 1984). Rescission is appropriate only if both parties can be returned to the status quo prior to the contract. *Id.*

In equity actions, this Court may review the record and make findings based on its view of the preponderance of the evidence. *Townes Assocs. v. City of Greenville*, 266 S.C. 81, 86, 221

S.E.2d 773, 775 (1976). However, the Court is not required to disregard the findings of the trial judge who saw and heard the witnesses and was in a better position to judge their credibility. *Tiger, Inc. v. Fisher Agro, Inc.*, 301 S.C. 229, 237, 391 S.E.2d 538, 543 (1989).

The three areas comprising Appellant's mistake claims are discussed below.

a. Appellant failed to show any mistake with respect to the condition of the Note when the Agreement was executed.

As discussed above, Appellant took the position at trial that it was surprised to learn the about the Note's condition when the Agreement was executed, and this mistake justifies rescission. Specifically, Appellant points to the arrearage on the Note of approximately \$23,000.00 as well as letters sent to Respondents by the Mortgagee. This, however, falls well short of a mutual mistake or unilateral mistake sufficient to rescind the Agreement.

Both Appellant and Respondents were fully aware of the arrearage on the Note when the Agreement was executed, and this eliminates any possibility of mutual mistake on this point. As mentioned above, the Agreement acknowledges the arrearage on its face and expressly provides for default if and only if the Mortgagee takes enforcement action and the Respondents fail to cure. (P. Tr. Ex. 7A ¶11.04). Moreover, Bill Danielson testified he did not think the Note was in default at any time relevant to execution of the Agreement or since, despite the arrearage, and no enforcement action has ever been taken. (Trial Tr. p. 290, ln. 12-25). In other words, Bill Danielson does not believe there was any mistake with respect to the Note's accounting as of execution or since. Given the express language of the Agreement and the testimony of Bill Danielson, there can be no basis for mutual mistake on the issue of Note's condition when the Agreement was executed.

For a mutual mistake to exist under the law, both parties must have intended a certain thing and by mistake, they did not obtain what was intended. *George v. Empire Fire & Marine Ins. Co.*, 344 S.C. 582, 590, 545 S.E.2d 500, 504 (2001). The testimony of Bill Danielson is dispositive that the elements of mutual mistake could not be met by the Appellant.

There is also no unilateral mistake with respect to the status of the Note. Appellant has failed to identify by clear and convincing evidence any fraud, deception, or misrepresentation committed by Respondents. Moreover, notwithstanding Respondents' state of mind or motivations, at all times relevant, Appellant possessed all the relevant details about the status of the Note, and the Agreement expressly integrated this mutual understanding. Moreover, Bill Danielson testified Appellant not only knew about the arrearage prior to executing the Agreement, but viewed it as potential leverage for future discussions with the lender regarding assumption. (Trial Tr. p. 294, ln. 8 – p. 296, ln. 1). To the extent the Appellant was mistaken about anything, this was purely due to his own negligence and not attributable to Respondents in any way. These factual considerations alone are more than sufficient to derail Appellant's unilateral mistake claim.

Give the foregoing, the Master-In-Equity correctly found there were no mistakes justifying rescission on the issue of the condition of the Note at the time the Agreement was executed.

b. The evidence reveals there was no mistake as to whether and under what conditions the Mortgage could be assumed.

Appellant's next mistake claim is based on the Mortgage assumption process. Appellant claims all parties misunderstood all that went into the assumption process and what was meant by Respondents agreeing to use "best efforts" to facilitate the same. Specifically, Appellant

claims he was unaware he would have to submit underwriting information to be approved and suggests, in an unspecified manner, that Respondents should have done more to accomplish the assumption quickly and seamlessly. Neither argument withstands scrutiny nor supports either a mutual mistake or unilateral mistake theory.

The relevant documents foreclose any possibility for Appellant to claim either mutual mistake or unilateral mistake related to the assumption process. Prior to the drafting of the Agreement, Appellant was provided and retained copies of the Mortgage and other loan documents, and at all times should have fully understood the nature of the assumption process. (Trial Tr. p. 88, ln. 15 – p. 89, ln. 13). In addition, as stated above, these documents were recorded and the Appellant had conducted a title search. Furthermore, as set forth above, the principal of the Appellant (Timothy Scrantom) is a South Carolina attorney and he also engaged the services of an attorney to review the loan documents and assist with the drafting of the Agreement.

The assumption process is outlined in detail in the Adjustable Rate Rider accompanying the Mortgage. It clearly states that assumption is discretionary and would require Appellant submit to an underwriting process through the lender. Bill Danielson testified he contacted the Mortgagee about the assumption procedure (as well as the loan modification requested by Appellant), was told the underwriting steps outlined in the Adjustable Rate Rider would have to be followed for an assumption, and this was communicated to Appellant. (Trial Tr. p. 275, ln. 4-15).

Appellant was acting through its managing partner who is a licensed attorney and English barrister who specializes in international contract law and has taught classes at the University of South Carolina School of Law. (Trial Tr. p. 10, ln. 13 – 25). In addition to that, the Appellant

and Scrantom were represented by well-respected counsel. Accordingly, Appellant knew or should have known what goes into the assumption process, as outlined in the relevant documents, and there is no evidence in the record that Scrantom or the Appellant was deceived or misled by Respondents in any way. Moreover, as a sophisticated party familiar with financial transactions, he knew or should have known that it would be unreasonable to anticipate a lender would blindly sign off on an assumption without doing its homework first.

However, it is clear that the Appellant was not interested in an assumption of the Respondents' mortgage, which is what the terms of the Agreement contemplated. The Appellant and Scrantom wanted a different deal – a modification to the Respondents' mortgage in order to benefit the Appellant and Scrantom. (Trial Tr. p. 268, ln. 16 – p. 270, ln. 12; p. 274, ln. 9-17; p. 279, ln. 11-15; D. Tr. Ex. 6). This request of the Appellant and Scrantom goes well beyond the contents and requirements of the Agreement and what the Respondents were required to do. In addition, Scrantom was readily able to close on the Property with cash or his own financing. (Trial Tr. p. 268, ln. 20- p. 269, ln. 2).

Based on the clear language of the relevant documents as well as Appellant's knowledge thereof at all times relevant, the Master-In-Equity correctly found there was no mistake justifying rescission in connection with the assumption of the mortgage.

c. The dispute over the “Interest Carry” language does not amount to a mistake justifying rescission.

As mentioned above, a dispute arose between the parties regarding the proper calculation of the “Interest Carry” component of the overall “Exercise Price.” These terms are defined by the Agreement and discussed in detail in the breach of contract analysis above. Nevertheless, Appellant takes the position that this language is plagued by mistake and justifies rescission of

the Agreement. This argument fails not only by virtue of the express language of the Agreement, but also the well documented motivations of the parties during the negotiation process.

There is no mutual mistake with respect to the “Interest Carry” language because Respondents contend the express language of the Agreement reflects their understanding of the deal. As discussed above, “Exercise Price” is defined to include the “Interest Carry” through the latter of the closing date and the option expiration date. Therefore, under no plausible reading of the Agreement, can “Interest Carry” be interpreted to call for a proration through closing where closing stands to occur prior to the option expiration date. Respondents, who took the position “Interest Carry” should have been calculated through the option expiration date, do not believe there is any ambiguity or misunderstanding with respect to the relevant language; rather, the defined terms accurately depict the bargained for arrangement (Trial Tr. p. 300, ln. 20 – p. 303, ln. 24). Hence, there can be no mutual mistake. Given the clear language of the Agreement, the arms-length negotiation of the Agreement between sophisticated parties, and Respondents’ understanding of the provision, the mutual mistake argument fails.

As for unilateral mistake, the record is devoid of any evidence approaching fraud, deceit, misrepresentation, or other improper conduct on the part of Respondents. Aside from the clear terms of the Agreement, which of course cannot be said to have been concealed from Appellant, Respondents’ interpretation reflects its well documented motivations leading up to consummation of the deal, as evidenced by the trial testimony as well as the communications between the parties leading up to the Agreement. Bill Danielson testified he did not want to sell the Property at 2012 prices while the real estate market was depressed, and he did not want to lose out on the profit margin associated with the rental income he was receiving from the Property relative to his payments on the very favorable low interest only Note. (Trial Tr. p. 296,

ln. 16 – p. 299, ln. 5). E-mails exchanged between the parties during the negotiation process evidence Respondents’ intentions and demonstrate how the “Interest Carry” was designed to capture and preserve this value in the event Appellant exercised the option to buy before the option expiration date. (Trial Tr. p. 300, ln. 20 – p. 303, ln. 16; P. Tr. Ex. 21, P. Tr. Ex. 23, D. Tr. Ex. 17, p. 1). Based on the clear language of the Agreement and the negotiations between the parties, Appellant cannot claim Respondents’ interpretation of “Interest Carry” came as any surprise or was fueled by the sort of underhanded conduct necessary to support a unilateral mistake theory.

For these reasons, the record supports the Master-In-Equity’s finding that the Agreement should not be rescinded due to any mistake associated with the “Interest Carry” interpretation and should be affirmed by this Court.

III. The Master-In-Equity correctly found that Appellant failed to timely vacate and owed one month’s worth of holdover rent to Respondents.

The Master-In-Equity found for the Respondents’ on their breach of contract counter claim against Appellant and third-party claim against Timothy Scrantom, as guarantor, due to Appellant’s failure to timely vacate the property and the failure of Scrantom to pay, and awarded a joint and several judgment in the amount of \$8,000.00. It is unclear whether this decision is part of this appeal, given the vagueness of Appellant’s Brief, and since Scrantom is not a party to this appeal. Regardless, the Master-In-Equity’s decision on this point should be affirmed based on the record and the applicable law. To the extent that the Appellant or Scrantom argues that this issue is before the Court on this appeal, the issue is abandoned as to Scrantom. In Appellant’s Brief, the Appellant clearly states that “Ten State Street, LLP is the only Appellant in this case...” (Appellant Brief, p. 12). Being the judgment also applied to Timothy Scrantom

individually as guarantor, the issue is abandoned as to Mr. Scrantom as he is not an Appellant and makes no arguments as to the personal judgment against him.

The record clearly establishes the basis for the holdover rent charge as well as Appellant's responsibility to pay. The Agreement's "holdover clause" provides authority for the owner to charge one-month's base rent in the amount of \$8,000.00 should the tenant fail to vacate after the last day of the term. (P. Tr. Ex. 7A ¶14.02). Timothy Scrantom personally guaranteed all of Appellant's obligations under the Agreement, including the hold-over penalty. (P. Tr. Ex. 7A). Due to Appellant's unilateral termination of the Agreement, his occupancy rights expired at the end of March 2013. (P. Tr. Ex. 4). However, Bill Danielson testified Appellant remained in the property into April. (Trial Tr. p. 304, ln. 16 – p. 306, ln. 9). Appellant did not dispute that it continued to possess the Property into April. When specifically questioned on this point, Mr. Scrantom testified that he still had property he had to move out and therefore was still in the move-out process during that time period. (Trial Tr. p. 330, ln. 12 – p. 332, ln. 23). Therefore, he was technically a holdover. Based on the above, the Master-In-Equity properly found Appellant had violated Paragraph 14.02 of the Agreement, and awarded a \$8,000.00 judgment against Appellant and Timothy Scrantom.

Given the foregoing, the Master-In-Equity's decision to award breach of contract damages against Appellant and Timothy Scrantom is supported by both the law and the facts and should be affirmed.

IV. Appellant's claims for unjust enrichment, equity, and constructive trust were waived at trial and not part of this appeal.

Appellant's Second Amended Complaint also contains causes of action for unjust enrichment, "equity," and constructive trust. However, the Master-In-Equity found that

Appellant failed to present any evidence or argument in support of these claims at trial. (Order, p. 6) (“At trial, [Appellant] produced evidence and arguments in support of the claims for Rescission – Mutual Mistake, Rescission – Unilateral Mistake, and Breach of Contract”). Since the causes of action for unjust enrichment, equity, and constructive trust were abandoned and waived at trial, the Master-In-Equity did not make any factual findings or conclusions of law with respect to the unjust enrichment, equity, and constructive trust claims. The Master-in-Equity also found that those remaining causes of action were unsupported by the evidence which was advanced in support of the theories which were ruled upon. (Order, p. 16).